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Introduction





The Highways and Byways series was a publishing enterprise of great scope and ambition, running from 1897 to 1948. In all some thirty-six volumes were published, in several editions, many of which were revised and updated. The guiding principle at Macmillan was simple: to publish a series of lavishly illustrated guides to the counties (or historically distinct areas) of Britain, giving free rein to the authors to approach the project as they saw fit.


This book is a selection from each of these thirty-six volumes. That there is a wide variety in the way individual counties are written about is no surprise given that the fifty years covered by the series were a time of immense change in Britain, and that a large number of authors contributed to the project (only seven authors wrote more than one volume, and none more than a total of three books). Some authors, especially those in the late Victorian and Edwardian eras, write with a patrician high seriousness and an unshakeable belief that not only will the reader share their fascination with vernacular ecclesiastical architecture, but also that the reader will be as familiar with its technical lexicon as they are. Some of the volumes written in the interwar years show a sense that the rate of change – social, economic, technological, cultural – is increasing, and are imbued with a nostalgia, even a sadness, that is absent in many of the volumes written before the First World War.


   

   

   

   While some authors are most comfortable in their role as an objective guide to landscape, buildings and history, others are happiest telling shaggy-dog stories or writing about people and habits known only within their locale. In this sense, the series doesn’t confine itself to the physical highways and byways of the country – some authors take the view that the best way to represent their territory is to write about its inhabitants, past and present, famous and obscure. In a spirit of objectivity, some authors try to absent themselves as much as possible, while for others the actual journey they take in order to write the book forms the basis of their narrative, leading to much more personal, impressionistic, lyrical, opinionated, or sometimes comedic, volumes.


   

   What is the portrait of Britain that we find here? In so many ways it is an unrecognisable place, where trams and cars are new beasts (almost all of the writers assume that the tourist will travel either on foot, by bicycle or by train). Rural traditions are still highly visible and important (though disappearing fast). It is a portrait of a country which is for the most part strong, energetic, independent, comfortable with itself and proud (in competition with continental Europe and the wider world, comparable aspects of British life and landscape repeatedly come out on top). For many authors, Ruskin is a revered figure of great authority, an icon to whose words they repeatedly turn. All of the authors subscribe to a theory of the ‘picturesque’ which seems from another age to our eyes. There is a sense that modern (i.e. Victorian and Edwardian) ‘improvements’ have weakened the fabric of a national architecture. (Whereas today people spend much time and effort trying to save what we now see as desirable, culturally valuable period buildings erected by the Victorians and Edwardians, in these volumes they are often viewed as distasteful, disrespectful, sometimes even as the work of arrogant vandals.) The Civil War, fishing and fox hunting are topics that come up time and again. (In the Gloucestershire piece, written in 1932, the author tells us that ‘fox-hunting, they say, with England, is on its last legs’, and there is a repeated sense in many volumes that hunting and the state of the country are somehow linked.)




   The twin facts that hunting survived until only very recently, however, and that there are still plenty of doomsayers around to tell us that the country is on its last legs, perhaps indicate that in some ways there is not such a gulf between Britain now and Britain then. And there is indeed much we can recognise in these pages too; many issues recur which remain vitally important today. Environmental concerns – particularly as they relate to the health of rivers and fish stocks, and the impact of mass tourism on the landscape – are repeatedly voiced, as are worries about the consequences of urbanisation, industrialisation and the associated decline of a rural, agricultural economy. Even the parlous state of our general level of fitness is discussed (it is suggested that one of the benefits of new developments in rural towns which bring people out of cities is that they might stop the ‘physical degeneration of our people of which we hear on all sides’). Property developers are generally viewed as rapacious. Many authors complain about the creeping, invidious influence of government, whose instruments are destroying old practices and curtailing individual freedoms, bemoaning new laws which are turning Britain into a ‘kindergarten’. All these things may strike a chord with readers now. Every era sees its past as a Golden Age, never to be recaptured; in this sense the authors of this series are no different to us.


   

   Of course in the end the truth is that the Britain we see in these pages is simultaneously very different from and very similar to the country today. The seventy-plus years that divide us from the time when these books were written are either an abyss or a mere stepping stone, depending on the point of view.


   

   

   ‘Britishness’ and how to define it are much in the news today, and while the world has moved on in so many ways, I hope that this selection, by giving us a feeling for what a relatively recent incarnation of our culture deemed important, and on the grounds that we can only know who we are if we know where we came from, might go some small way to clarifying one or two elements of this foggy question. Ultimately, though, my hope is that this selection is simply enjoyed for what it is – a period piece.


   

   Restrictions of space are such that there is a doubly reductive prism at work – these snapshots are selections from books which were themselves necessarily selective, and I have been able to select a total of only eight or ten pages from each volume, most of which are at least 350 pages long. I have tried to make selections that, when viewed as a whole, deal with a range of aspects of Britain and British life of the period – the people, history, landscape, literature, class, local traditions, markets and fairs, sports and games, food and drink, architecture, and so on. There are a few sections on historical matters which inevitably tell us things we already know, the facts of which are not altered by the passage of time – I’d venture that the interest here lies more in the way that our ‘objective’ history is presented to us by people writing out of a particular time and place. Similarly, I have included pieces focusing on landscapes which, for the most part, have not changed at all, and again the interest lies in seeing anew a familiar and timeless natural world redrawn through different eyes.


   

   One contributor to the series who gives it such a rich flavour, and who to my mind deserves special mention, is the artist Frederick Griggs (1876–1938), who was commissioned to illustrate thirteen of the volumes. Well known and greatly admired in his day, Griggs has recently been the subject of extensive reassessment through the publication of a biography (F. L. Griggs: The Architecture of Dreams, Jerrold Northrop Moore, OUP, 1999) and several exhibitions, including those at the Ashmolean in Oxford and at the Fine Art Society in 2007. Griggs brought a purpose to bear on his work, wanting to capture the fast-vanishing Britain that he felt was on the point of obliteration during and after the First World War, and whose loss haunted him. Beyond his technical brilliance, there is significant emotional weight to many of his drawings, which adds a great deal to the volumes he illustrated.




   Unless specifically stated that they appear in the original volumes, all the footnotes are my own, as are any errors within them, of course. Dates of publication refer to first editions, unless noted otherwise. I would like to thank Georgina Morley and her colleagues at Macmillan for their hard work, support and patience.





David Milner, February 2008










 








1





BERKSHIRE





[image: secimg.jpg]





[image: imgchap1.jpg]





James Edmund Vincent, 1906










 








The Berkshire Forest District





If, taking a map of Berkshire, a line be drawn due north and south through Sunningdale, it will bisect Virginia Water and it will form the eastern boundary of so much of the ‘Forest District’ as lies within our subject; and the River Loddon, entering the county from Hampshire, near Strathfield Saye, and discharging itself into the Thames a short mile above Wargrave, may be taken for a western limit; while the Blackwater may serve for the southern line, as the Thames does for the northern. Within this very irregular polyhedron are comprised a number of places that must needs be visited. They are, to name the chief amongst them, Windsor, Frogmore and Virginia Water, Ascot, Sandhurst, Wellington, Wokingham and the little corner about Swallowfield rightly described as Miss Mitford’s country. Yet it is also Charles Kingsley’s country, for, although Eversley has the bad taste to be beyond the county boundary, in much of Kingsley’s prose is to be traced the spirit of the Berkshire Forest, and he has many a tale to tell of the ways of the Berkshire broom-squires.*




   Of these places the interest is in the main human, and none the worse or the less attractive for that; but the country also has a character of its own, a character gradually vanishing as London spreads out its tentacles, but still wonderful when we remember how very near London is. Hardly anywhere in southern England shall you find such vast expanses of barren and sandy heath, such ragged growth of firs and bracken and gorse, so much wild nature or so many solitudes. They are being invaded fast in these days. Trim villas and rows of houses rise as if by magic among the firs; at least three railway companies contend for the privilege, and the profit, of carrying breadwinners up to London every morning and back into the pure air when the day’s work is done. Unaccustomed hands take to digging and planting; amateur gardeners struggle amain to make good the deficiencies of the soil. The forest, in fact, is disappearing gradually, but the process is very slow; for Nature is intractable and the earth is not responsive, and there will be plenty of forest open for matchless rambles and rides for many a long year to come. At any rate it would be churlish to complain, for it is too obvious to need argument that this exodus from the cities, this migration of children to districts simply overflowing with health, this bringing of a part of the rising generation face to face with Nature, is all for the good. Amongst other things it must serve to check, in part at least, that physical degeneration of our people of which we hear on all sides. [. . .]








   Windsor, then is our centre, and first let us wander in the Home Park. The Long Walk passes from the castle along the eastern edge of Home Park, and then to Snow Hill and the very heart of the magnificent Great Park of 1,800 acres, stretching southward to Sunningdale, across Virginia Water and into Surrey, and at the south-west almost to Ascot, the most thickly wooded parts being on the west, near Cranbourne Tower, and on the south-east, near Virginia Water. It is, to put in a phrase, an altogether noble domain, possessing trees that are hard to match; and within its limits are contained Frogmore House, frequently occupied by the Prince and Princess of Wales; Cumberland Lodge, long associated with the names of Prince and Princess Christian of Schleswig-Holstein; Lower Lodge, said to have been built by Nell Gwynn; and the Royal Farms, including the Flemish Farm, for the King, like his father before him, is an enthusiastic and a judicious breeder of cattle, and Queen Victoria kept up all the agricultural enterprises started by the Prince Consort. [. . .]




   A most pleasant way of travelling to Virginia Water is to take a coach from London, which involves a drive through some charming country having but one fault, to wit, that it is not part of the Royal County of Berks. It is just as well to approach Virginia Water from the north. The journey is more than worth making. True it is that the water and its surroundings are all artificial. Nature did not cause the wood-girt water to meander as it does. History has nothing to say to those ruins. The whole is simply a magnificent piece of landscape gardening, as landscape gardening does; it is now attaining quite respectable antiquity, and many of our kings, to say nothing of William, Duke of Cumberland, have been much attached to it. The truth of the matter is that Paul Sandby, the creator of the whole design, was not merely a gardener and favourite of the Duke of Cumberland, but a water-colourist of no mean repute and power, and a foundation member of the Royal Academy, whose views in ‘aqua tinta’ still command high prices. So the general plan of Virginia Water is distinctly good. Amongst its curious structures it has an interesting relic. In the belvedere is mounted a battery of artillery, and it is the very same battery that was used by the Duke of Cumberland against Charles Edward at Culloden. William IV caused a model frigate, now vanished, to be made and floated on the waters. In days when Queen Alexandra, as Princess of Wales, used to skate, Virginia Water was a favourite resort for her; and in these days, when shooting is to the fore at Windsor, it is a frequent venue for luncheon.


   

   




   Let us have a kindly memory of this last-named Duke of Cumberland, the ‘martial boy’, the victor at Dettingen and Culloden, who outlived his popularity, who even got a worse name than he deserved, and as we proceed to Royal Ascot let us remember that he earned the gratitude of generations to come as the founder of Ascot Races, and as keen a sportsman as ever lived in England. Hardly less eager was Henry, Duke of Cumberland, whom we find among the subscribers to the Gold Cup in 1771. It would be wrong to describe the greatness of Ascot as a meeting, and it is unnecessary to follow its growth from strength to strength under royal patronage. Suffice to say, without fear of contradiction, that in Ascot Berkshire boasts a racecourse of worldwide celebrity and quite sui generis. Ascot is not so popular as Epsom, not quite as aristocratic as Goodwood, its course is one on which the ‘going’ frequently leaves much to be desired. Still, it is emphatically a great meeting, fitly described as the State event in the annual history of the sport of kings. Need it be added that, with the exception of Goodwood, Ascot is, from a scenic point of view, far and away the most choiceworthy of English racecourses? It is just the wildness of country and the sterility of the hungry soil, the main causes of Ascot scenic beauty, that make it difficult to keep the Ascot course in proper order. It is not an ideal place for a racecourse as such; on the other hand, it is an ideal place for men and women to reach from London in order to see horses run and to meet one another. Finally, it is within easy access of Windsor Castle. So the advantages more than counterbalance the drawbacks, and Ascot will surely live so long as horses are matched against one another for speed.


   

   From Ascot you may go through the pine country to Bracknell, a quiet village in the heart of it, and turn left to Easthampstead, of almost forgotten fame. Few there are now who remember that there was a royal residence at Easthampstead whence the hapless Richard II was wont to start a-hunting in days before treachery and rebellion drove him from the throne – there is much forest left hereabouts still – or that James I resided at Easthampstead in 1622–3; for James, too, was a mighty, or at any rate an ardent, hunter. In these days the two things to do at Easthampstead are to enjoy the fresh air, and to forgive the modernity of the church for the sake of the beautiful Burne-Jones windows it contains.




   Hence we pass, still in the pine country, undulating and at its best, by way of Caesar’s Camp (just like a hundred places of the same name) to Wellington College. Here you will find none of the architectural charm marking Eton or Winchester; indeed, the buildings may almost be called unattractive. You will find something nearly as good, a school for English boys in a situation that, if it had but a river, would be absolutely ideal; you will find manly lads, many of them, as befits the eponymous hero of the school, intended for a military career, growing up with as much of wholesome esprits de corps as may be discovered at the oldest and greatest schools. If there is no long delay here over Wellington College, that is in no sense to the disparagement of Wellington. It is, from one point of view, in the happy position of having no history. It was not founded by an eccentric enthusiast and it has never trembled on the verge of bankruptcy. There, amid the rhododendrons and the Wellingtonias and the pines, are reared generations of boys before all of whom is set the grand example of the great duke. All of us have met them in the wider world, and have observed how conspicuous most of them are for manliness, straightforwardness, and absence of affectation.


   

   Two miles away, or a little more, in the same kind of country, although preserving less of its original character, is the Royal Military College, whither many of the pupils of Wellington migrate. We are here on the confines of the settlements arisen since the establishment of Aldershot. They have their uses, but they are very far from being lovely. It is, however, worthwhile to go from Sandhurst to Finchampstead, on the borders of the county and almost on the bank of Blackwater, for the sake of crossing the Finchampstead ridges. The church too, standing clear of the village to the north-west, and on a hill a hundred feet higher above the sea than the road leading through the village, is distinctly attractive. In all the adequate maps will be seen, a mile or so north of Finchampstead, lines of uncompromising straightness indicating a Roman road. This is the old Roman road from Silchester, only partially within our purview, to London. From Silchester it starts as if it had been drawn with a ruler; then it becomes more difficult to follow, but north of Finchampstead, through the woodland known as California (one knows not why) and along the ‘nine-mile ride’ it goes absolutely straight to King’s Beeches and Sunningdale. Of this last place, since it has come in accidentally, it may be said that it is a typical and well-to-do settlement in the pine country; and that is enough.




   These places might just as well be visited from Wokingham – which is picturesque and old-fashioned – as from Windsor. Hence you may go to see Binfield, keeping Pope in mind the while, remembering that he wrote here, amongst other things, The Rape of the Lock and, more appropriately, the Pastorals. A little to the west of Wokingham lies Bear Wood, the house standing on an eminence, and house and estate a monument of the position won by the Walter family as faithful servants of the public and honourable conductors of a great newspaper.† The Walter family is one of which Berkshire may be justly proud. The house contains some notable treasures of art, and hard by is a large piece of artificial water, where, as an epitaph in the church records, he who should have been John Walter IV, of Printing House Square and Bear Wood, ‘died rescuing his brother and cousin from the frozen lake at Bear Wood, Christmas Eve, 1870’.






   Why is Bear Wood so called? Here, in the heart of Berkshire, we have Bear Wood and, near Wargrave, Bear Place, Bear Park, and so forth. The Saxon chroniclers called the county ‘Bearrucshire’; Asser says that Berkshire took its name from ‘the wood of Berroc, where the box-tree grows abundantly’. We know that the Romans were in the habit of importing bears for their games from Britain, and that bears were certainly not extinct in Britain in the tenth century. So, while Bear Place may possibly have been one of the sites of a pit for baiting bears, there seems to be no sufficient reason why the title of Bear Wood, beyond question of great antiquity, should not be due to a tradition that this once pathless wood was haunted by bears. It may be that here we have lighted on the explanation of the origin of the name of the county also. There is really nothing against the theory, except the fact that nobody seems to have thought of it before. Let us reflect that the tenth or eleventh century are but as yesterday when it comes to a question of the origin of place names, and, thus reflecting, let us ask what could be more likely than that Berkshire, with its huge tract of forest, was in very truth one of the last haunts of the savage bear in southern England, and that Bear Wood was called after its own bears. Sometimes, too, one comes across traces of forgotten fauna in the sayings of the people of the county, and in the games of children, which never change. The fact of the matter is that the traditions of these peasant folk are handed down from father to son, that time is as nothing to them. Our Berkshire peasants speak of the wars, always meaning the Civil Wars, as if they had been waged a century back at most. Their minds will not take in the idea of the lapse of centuries.
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Andrew and John Lang, 1913










 








Jedburgh; Teviotdale; Selkirk





In all the Border there stands no place more picturesquely situated than Jedburgh, nor in historical interest can any surpass it. And though its ancient castle, and the six strong towers that once defended the town, have long since vanished, there remains still the noble ruins of its magnificent abbey, and other relics of the past, less noticeable, but hardly less interesting; whilst the surrounding countryside brims over with the beauty of the river, wood and hill.


Like its not distant neighbour, the more famed castle at Roxburgh, Jedburgh Castle as time went on became a stronghold continually changing hands: today garrisoned by Scots, tomorrow held by English, taken and retaken again and again, too strong and of importance too great to be anything but a continuous bone of contention between the two nations, yet more often, and for longer periods, in English than in Scottish keeping. Ultimately, its fate was as that of a land wilfully devastated by its own people to hamper the march of an invading army. If the Scots could not permanently hold it, neither, they resolved, should it any more harbour those vermin of England. Accordingly, when in 1409 the men of Teviotdale, wiping out the English garrison, retook the castle, they at once set about its final destruction.


Perched above the town on a commanding eminence that on one side sloped steeply to the river, and on the other to a deep glen or ravine, defended also, doubtless, on the side farthest from the burgh by a deep fosse, the castle must once have been of great strength – how strong as regards position may best be judged from the bird’s eye view of it to be gained if one climbs at the back of Jedburgh the exceedingly steep direct road that runs to Lanton village. From this point, too, one sees to advantage the venerable abbey nestling among the surrounding houses, and can best appreciate the wisdom of the old monks, who chose for their abode a site so pleasant. A valley smiling in the mellow sunshine; a place to which one may drop down from the heights above where bellows and raves a north-westerly gale, to find peace and quiet, undisturbed by any blustering wind; a valley rich in the fruits of the earth, and wandering through it a trout stream more beautiful than almost any of the many beautiful Border ‘Waters’, a stream that once was, and now should be, full of lusty yellow trout rising under the leafy elms in the long, warm summer evenings. An ideal water for trout is Jed, and many a pretty dish must those old monks have taken from it, by fair means or foul; pity that woollen mills below, and netting, and the indiscriminate slaughter of fingerlings above the town, should have so greatly damaged it as a sporting stream.


Possibly upper Jed is not now quite so bad as it was a few years ago, but what of the lower part of that beautiful river? The same may be said of it that may be said of Teviot immediately below Hawick, or of Gala, and, alas! of Tweed below Galashiels. The waters are poisoned by dyes and by sewage, rendered foul by sewage fungus, reeking with all manner of uncleanness, an offence to nostril and to eye. Five and thirty years ago Ruskin wrote: ‘After seeing the stream of the Teviot as black as ink, a putrid carcass of a sheep lying in the dry channel of the Jed, under Jedburgh Abbey, the entire strength of the summer stream being taken away to supply a single mill, I know finally what value the British mind sets on the beauties of nature.’ What, indeed, are the ‘beauties of nature’ that they should interfere with the glories of commerce! Truly we are a Commercial Nation. What might Ruskin say of these rivers now that five and thirty years have passed? Compared to Teviot, ink is a fluid that may claim to be splendidior vitro*, and Jed below the town is in little better case.


A few hundred yards from the abbey, down a back street, there stands a picturesque old house, robbed now of some of its picturesqueness by the substitution of tiles for the old thatched roof that once was there. It is the house where, in a room in the second storey whose window overlooks a pleasant garden and the once crystal Jed, Mary Queen of Scots lay many days, sick unto death† – a house surely that should now be owned and cared for by the burgh. It stands in what must have been in her day a beautiful garden, sloping to the river. Hoary, moss-grown apple trees still blossom there and bear fruit. On a pleasant, sunny evening of late spring when thick-clustered apple and pear blossom drape the boughs and thrushes sing, and Jed ripples musically beneath the worn arches of that fine old bridge near at hand, it is more of peace than of melancholy that the place speaks.


Yet there is sadness too, when one thinks of the – at least on this occasion – sorely maligned woman who lay there in grievous suffering in the darkening days of October 1566. ‘Would that I had died at Jedburgh,’ she sighed in later years. She had been spared much, the Fates had been less unkind, if death had then been her part.


As one proceeds up Jed from the ancient royal burgh, probably the first thing that forces itself on the mind is that the old coach road was not constructed for present-day traffic. In less than a couple of miles the river is crossed no fewer than four times by bridges which are curiously old-fashioned, and in the steepness of their ascent and descent conveying to the occupant of a motor car a sensation similar to that given to a bad sailor by a vessel at sea when she is surmounting ‘the league-long rollers’. Nevertheless the beauty of road and country are great, especially if one should chance that a visit is paid to the district when the tender flush of early spring lies sweet on Jed’s thick-wooded banks, and the trout have begun to think at last of rising again freely to the natural fly. It was a heavily wooded district this in former days, and one or two of the giants of old still survive – the widespreading ‘Capon tree’, for instance (but why ‘Capon’ it passes the knowledge of men to decide), and the ‘King of the Woods’ near Fernihirst, a beautiful and still vigorous oak, with a girth of seventeen feet.




   Of castles and peel towers over the Jedburgh district the most are utterly ruined, but Fernihirst still stands, and, over the hill towards Teviot, Lanton Tower, the latter now incorporated with a comfortable modern dwelling. Strange are the vicissitudes of places and of people. Over this Forest of Jedworth and here at Lanton, where of old too often were heard the blast of trumpet, shouts and oaths of fiercely striving men, the roar and crackle of burning houses, you will hear now no sound more startling than the ‘toot-toot’ of the Master’s horn and the babble of foxhounds; for at Lanton Tower are the kennels of the Jedforest Hunt, and many a glorious run is had with this pack, sometimes in enclosed country, sometimes among the great round-backed Border hills towards Carterfell, over country that will tail off all but the best of men and horses.


   

   As we ascend Teviot, after Jed its next important tributary is the Ale, not so named from the resemblance of its waters, when flooded, to a refreshing beverage. Sir Herbert Maxwell‡ says that the name was originally written ‘Alne’ (as in Aln, Alnwick).About Ancrum the Ale, like the Jed, beautifies itself by cutting a deep channel through the fine red sandstone of which Melrose Abbey is built. These channels are always beautiful, but Ale, otherwise, as we ascend its valley, is a quiet trout stream ‘that flows the green hills under’. In my boyhood, long, long ago, Ale abounded in excellent trout, and was my favourite among all our many streams. It does not require the angler to wade, like Tweed and Ettrick; it is narrow and easily commanded. The trout were almost as guileless as they were beautiful and abundant; but I presume that they are now almost exterminated by fair and unfair methods. The Scot, when he does not use nets, poisons, and dynamite, is too often a fisher with the worm, and, as I remember him, had no idea of returning even tiny fish to the water, as James Thomson, author of The Seasons and himself a Border angler, advises us to do.


   

   



   



   Guileless indeed, since old time has been the character of the trout of Ale. But they are better educated, if fewer in number, than they appear to have been eighty or ninety years ago. But they did curious things in the name of Sport in the earlier half of last century. Many of the methods of catching salmon that are written of approvingly by Scrope, that great angler of Sir Walter’s day, are now the rankest of poaching, and are prohibited by law.


   

   Further up, Ale rests in the dull deep loch of Alemuir, which looks as if it held more pike than trout. And so we follow her into the hills and the watershed that, on one side, contributes feeders to the Ettrick. It is a lofty land of pasture and broken hills, whence you can see the airy peaks of Skelfhill, Penchrise, the Dunion, and the ranges of ‘mountains’, as Scott calls the hills through which the Border Waters run. A ‘Water’ is larger than a ‘Burn’, but attains not to the name of the river.


   

   Rule, the next tributary as we ascend Teviot, is but a Water, a pretty trout stream it would be if it had fair play. The question of fishing in this country is knotted. Almost all the trout streams were open to everybody, in my boyhood, when I could fish all day in Tweed or Ale, and never see a rod but my own. The few anglers were sportsmen. Since these days the world has gone wild on angling, the waters are crowded like the Regent’s Canal with rods. Now I am all for letting every man have his cast; but the only present hope for the survival of trout is in the associations of anglers who do their best to put down netting and dynamiting. A close time when trout are out of season, we owe to Sir Herbert Maxwell.




   As we ascend, the water of Teviot becomes more and more foul; varying, when last I shuddered at it, from black to a most unwholesome light blue. It is distressing to see such a fluid flowing through beautiful scenes; and possibly since I mingled my tears with the polluted stream, the manufacturers off Hawick have taken some order in the way of more or less filtering their refuse and their dyes.


   

   Immediately after passing Ettrickbank, the road, coming suddenly out from a clump of trees, breaks into view of a wide and pleasant valley. Above, rising abruptly, tier upon tier in cheerful succession, trees and houses that blend into the smiling face of Selkirk. During the autumn flood salmon run the gauntlet of Ettrick’s lower reaches, and in countless numbers congregate below Selkirk Cauld (or weir), where the difficulty of ascent acts as a partial check on their continued migration. On a day in the month of November, if there should happen to be a considerable flood in the river, this cauld is a sight worth going a long way to look at. A wide rushing sea of tawny, foaming water – a hundred yards from bank to bank – races over the sloping face of the cauld, and, where it plunges into the deep pool at foot, rears itself in a mighty wave, with crest that tosses in the wintry breeze ‘like the mane of a chestnut steed’. From daylight till dark you may watch the fish – big and little, from the thirty-pound leviathan to the little one- or two-pound sea trout – in their eagerness to reach the spawning beds of the upper waters, hurl themselves high in the air over this great barrier-wave, then, gallantly struggling, continue for a while their course up the rushing torrent, till gradually they lose way and come tumbling back, head over tail, into the pool from which half a minute before they had emerged. It is like standing by one of the jumps in an endless kind of finny Grand National steeplechase; so many fish are in the air at once at any given moment that one becomes giddy with watching them. Probably a good many do in time accomplish the ascent, or perhaps get up by the salmon-ladders in midstream, but the great majority are swept back, over and over again. Those that make the attempt near the side, in the shallow water out of the main force of the current, are frequently taken in landing nets (by water-bailiffs stationed there for the purpose), and are carried up and set at liberty in the smooth water above the cauld. It must be confessed that a considerable number are also taken in this way, or with the help of a ‘cleek’,§ by poachers. The bailiffs cannot be everywhere; and a salmon is a temptation before which (in the Border) almost the most virtuous of his sex might conceivably succumb. The average Borderer, indeed, I believe would cheerfully risk his life sometimes, rather than forego the chance of a fish. ‘The only crime prevalent [in Selkirk] is that of poaching,’ says the Revd Mr Campbell, minister of the parish for fifty years, writing in 1833. There was one, greatly sinning in this respect, of whom nevertheless, because of his gallant end, I cannot think without a feeling almost of affection. He – with a fish where no fish should have been – was hopelessly outmanoeuvred by the bailiffs, escape cut off on every side, and only the river, red, swollen, and cold as ice, open to him. ‘Here’s daith or glory for Jockie!’ he cried, and plunged into a torrent from which he came no more alive.









   A little higher up than the cauld is the Piper’s Pool, where, until he was hit by a chance bullet that brought him rolling like a shot rabbit down the brae into the water, a piper stood piping that September morning of 1645, when Montrose and Leslie were striving for the victory. On the bank above, those inhabitants of Selkirk who cared to run some risk – which was probably the whole community – took up their position and watched the fight as from a grandstand. There is no better vantage point imaginable.
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Clement shorter, 1910
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As the county of Buckinghamshire is only fifty-three miles at its greatest length, and twenty-seven miles at its greatest breadth, the visitor who approaches it in a motor car can see it quite easily from any given point in day excursions. He who uses a horse or bicycle or his own legs can become familiar with it from any one of five towns: Aylesbury, High Wycombe, Great Marlow, Buckingham and Olney. The county contains no very substantial commercial centres, and it is one of its charms that no industries have grown up to spoil the rusticity of well nigh all of it. It is essentially an agricultural county, and it was exclusively this until the eighteenth century, when the so-called cottage industries of lace-making, straw-plaiting and chair-manufacturing grew up. The two former have declined, while the last has grown far beyond the resources of tree wood obtainable in the district. The social aspect of agriculture may be summed up in the fact that the wages of the labourers were never more than one shilling a day in the eighteenth century, while they are three or four times that amount today. Wages then ran considerably higher in the Chilterns than in the Vale.




   Let our first introduction to the county be from Aylesbury, now reached pleasantly from Marylebone by the Great Central Railway in less than an hour. We find ourselves in a town with some small survival of its ancient picturesqueness, although all too little of its many historical associations is preserved for us today. Standing in the centre of the large market square we face the George Inn, while our back is to the Corn Exchange. A hundred years ago we should have faced the King’s Head Inn, now buried in a side street, but worth a visit to see its old Tudor window, one of the few relics of an older Aylesbury. The George was built in the beginning of the nineteenth century. It is interesting on account of its ballroom with a music gallery and many pictures, although these last are not of great merit. It is supposed they were removed from Eythorpe House upon the demolition of that splendid residence by the Earl of Chesterfield in 1812. Having confidently expected to be made Lord Lieutenant of the county, as the then occupant was dying, Lord Chesterfield returned to lunch one morning to be greeted with the news that Baron Cobham had received from Pitt the promise of the Lord Lieutenancy. Chesterfield left Eythorpe the next day and never set foot in the county again. A year or two afterwards he gave orders for the destruction of the mansion. His rare treasures he removed elsewhere. There are a set of four hand-fire screens in the possession of the landlord which show the positions of the pictures in the room. Most of the pictures are copies, and we may be sure that none of them are of value, or they would not have remained so long in this quiet corner of the country. These pictures go with the house, and pass with the freehold from tenant to tenant.




   The King’s Head is situated at the back of the George. Here we are in quite an old-world atmosphere – the sign, indeed, only commemorates Henry VIII, but the hall of this quaint inn, and its long window, visible from the street, have a much greater antiquity. The heraldic devices that are still to be seen on the window make it clear that it dates from the fifteenth century; and also make it clear that the house had something to do with religion. As a matter of fact, all the original inns of England were kept by religious communities, and were under control of the monasteries. The fine window in the King’s Head extends across its principal room, now used as a bar, with heraldry that recalls Margaret, the wife of Henry VI, from which it has been inferred that the building was erected shortly after the marriage of that monarch. In the seventeenth century the King’s Head issued its own coinage, or tokens, for small payments. This it did in common with mercers and other tradesmen of the town. Instead of doing the work itself, the government allowed them here, as elsewhere, to make their own ‘necessarie chainge’.




   In leaving Aylesbury by the Tring road, the old Akeman Street, turn off to the right for Weston Turville, a pleasant village, notable as the place where most of the so-called Aylesbury ducks are reared. The church is some way from the main road, prettily situated among trees. We found the rector with his family playing tennis in the rectory garden on the occasion of our visit, and he courteously sent his son for the key of the church.


   

   At Weston Turville we can get into the Lower Icknield Way to Halton, the park of which is bounded on one side by the high road from Wendover to Tring. The park belongs to Mr Alfred de Rothschild. Halton Park and Aston Clinton Park adjoin, being separated by a canal. Here is another of the many houses of the Rothschild family in this county, and it has the pleasant characteristics that their domination denotes – an outlook of picturesque modern cottages, of comfortable homesteads, and of delightful stretches of parkland visible from the road.


   

   Back on the Tring road we can leave to the left and follow the Upper Icknield Way to Ivinghoe. Sir Walter Scott borrowed the name of Ivinghoe for his incomparable story Ivanhoe. Scott went to Buckinghamshire for several of the names in his novels and he certainly visited Aylesbury. It is pleasant to be in Ivinghoe quite apart from the association with Scott’s great novel, and many a cyclist has long since discovered the comforts of its inn and the picturesqueness of its neighbourhood. It is a tradition that Ivinghoe was once an assize town, but there is no evidence of this. At the moment it is a village with a population at the last census of 1,077 souls, as against 1,215 a century ago – before Scott gave it its worldwide fame. That that fame has brought no additional population but exactly the contrary is worth recording. The view of the Chilterns from here is exceptionally fine. [. . .]




   There are many ways of reaching Chesham. If we desire to visit it from London we shall travel by train which will probably necessitate our changing at Chalfont Road Station, from which there runs a short branch line. If we are already at Amersham there is a direct road through Chesham Bois, and the whole distance is less than two miles. If we are at Great Missenden we can climb up to the church and follow a road on the left through the woods direct into the town.


   

   Chesham is well within the Chilterns, which bound it picturesquely on one side. The church is strikingly situated, the churchyard is impressive, the river Chess, which rises here, is at odd moments quite pretty. We particularly note the fir trees near by the factory, where thousands of children’s hoops and spades are turned out. But the growth of Chesham – unlike most places in the county it has tripled its population in a century – has not been made upon artistic lines. The struggling town which follows the high road over the hills to Berkhamsted is much of it called New Town and it is fatally new from our limited point of view. The manufacture of boots and shoes is the principal industry.


   

   But there is a Chesham ‘worthy’ of importance. Many have assumed that the Mad Hatter was a creation of children’s storybooks, immortalised in Alice in Wonderland. But there really was a Mad Hatter, and he lived at Chesham for many years. His story is written in the Harleian Miscellanies. His name was Roger Crab. He had his ‘skull cloven’ in the Civil War, and for some breach of discipline was sentenced to death by Cromwell. He was released, and then opened a shop at Chesham as a ‘haberdasher of hats’. He took to vegetarianism and water-drinking, then considered sure signs of madness, and clothed himself in sackcloth. He was cudgelled, put in the stocks and otherwise maltreated. He wrote several pamphlets that demonstrate his insanity, The English Hermit’s Spade being one. He died in 1680. [. . .]




   The principal industry of High Wycombe is the manufacture of chairs, the material not only being derived from the neighbouring beech woods, but much of the actual manufacture being carried on in the heart of the woods. Not the least attractive feature in weekend walks through these woods is the glimpse obtained of the gypsy-like encampments in which the various parts of a chair are cut out by hundreds and thousands. The chair-making industry of today, we may add, extends far beyond the utilisation of the wood actually grown in Buckinghamshire.


   

   High Wycombe is quite the largest town in the county, and may be recommended as a good centre for seeing Bradenham, the home of Isaac d’Israeli (thus it was always spelt before Benjamin reached distinction), and Hughenden, the home and burial place of his greater son. From the balcony of the Red Lion, Benjamin Disraeli, afterwards Earl of Beaconsfield, made many political speeches. Hughenden is but just outside High Wycombe on the road to Great Missenden. When we have passed through the street of straggling houses we are compensated by a delightful woodland road, with Hughenden Park on our left. We see a gate with a lodge and the path brings us very quickly to the church while we may observe the house very conspicuously from many points, although we may not enter, unless we have obtained permission from the present owner, Mr Coningsby Disraeli, a nephew of the great statesman. We are struck by the absence of population at Hughenden. The usual village does not exist, but the goodly congregation on a Sunday is accounted for in that it is drawn from the neighbouring hamlets of Kingshill and Naphill, to say nothing of the fact that the stalwart pedestrian from High Wycombe often walks across to the service here. In the churchyard we are at once attracted by the railed-in memorial to Lord Beaconsfield and his wife, a granite tombstone in three portions.




   We may enjoy a pleasant walk from Hughenden to Disraeli’s earlier home at Bradenham. There is a footpath at the lower end of the park that leads through Common Wood to Downley Common, and thence across Naphill Common. Bradenham is a most pleasing village, of which the Manor House is the most interesting object. It stands near the church, a fine mansion which will come as a surprise to those who think of Disraeli the younger as a self-made man. In this house Isaac d’Israeli lived from 1829 until his death in 1848 at the age of eighty-two. We shall find his tomb in the church and we shall have seen a monument to him in Hughenden Park as we have passed from Bradenham. It was his friendship with Pye, the Poet Laureate, that led Isaac d’Israeli into Buckinghamshire. Pye had been a rich man but had fallen on evil days financially when the then owner of Stoke Park, William Penn, a descendant of the founder of Pennsylvania, presented him with a cottage on his estate. [. . .]


   

   Perhaps the most oft-visited spot in England next to Stratford-on-Avon, so far as literary associations are concerned, is Stoke Poges churchyard. It is a favourite resort with the visitors to Burnham Breeches. And since the advent of the motor-cab, that has proved a not-infrequent method of seeing the picturesque locality that will ever be associated with the poet Gray. It is a delightful excursion in the summertime, when the churchyard abounds in well-kept rose bushes. A ‘cloister’ of modern creation leads from the church to the original manor house, a gamekeeper’s lodge in the sixties of last century and now a concert hall. It was for a time the studio of Sir Edwin Landseer. You cannot walk through this ‘cloister’ from the churchyard, but you may approach the fragment of the old manor house through the stable by the side of the Farnham road.




   As we approach the churchyard we are reminded of the poet by a stately, if tasteless, monument – a large sarcophagus, supported on a square pedestal with inscription on each side. It was John Penn, who lived at Stoke Poges in 1799, to whom we owe this monument. At the end of the churchyard, close by the wall at the east end of the church, we find the simple tomb under which Gray and his mother lie buried. He inscribed it to ‘Dorothy Gray, the careful tender mother of many children, one of whom alone had the misfortune to survive her.’ The famous Elegy Written in a Country Churchyard was begun at Stoke in 1749, and apparently inspired by three deaths. Gray’s uncle, Jonathan Rogers, died at Stoke Poges in 1742 , as did his friend West, and his aunt died here in 1749. In 1753 Gray’s mother died. Gray himself died at Cambridge in 1771, and his remains were carried to Stoke Poges and placed in the same tomb with his mother and aunt. It was a quiet funeral for the author of one of the most popular poems in our language. The mourners were four in number. We can but contrast with this the thousands of annual visitors to this simple grave – all inspired by love of one short but immortal poem.
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Revd Edward Conybeare, 1910
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In 1209, when the schools of Oxford were for a while closed by the government, as the outcome of a more than usually outrageous ‘rag’, large numbers of the students migrated to Cambridge. From henceforward, at all events, it attained European reputation in this respect, for in 1229, we find another batch of expelled students, this time from Paris, settling themselves here, and yet another swarm of Oxonians twenty years later. The earliest undergraduates were, at first, an utterly lawless lot, and made themselves most unpleasant neighbours to the ‘burgesses’ of the town. The student population speedily became far more numerous than the townsfolk. University lodgers thronged the private houses and the annexes, or ‘hostels’ as they are named, run up for their sole use by speculative landlords. These hostels gradually attained a more or less official recognition by the university, and paved the way for the setting up of colleges.




   The test applied to students by the university before conferring upon them a degree was by public disputations in the schools, each candidate having to support or oppose some literary or scientific thesis. The memory of these wordy ‘opponencies’ is still preserved in the denomination of ‘Wrangler’ bestowed on the candidates who obtain a First Class in the Mathematical Examination for an Honour degree, and by every examination through which such a degree can be obtained being called a ‘Tripos’, from the three-legged stool which played a notable part in those old ordeals. The test demanded steadiness of nerve and readiness of wit, as well as mere knowledge; and, in all these, the scholar of a college, well catered and cared for, was far better equipped than his lawless, and often foodless, non-collegiate competitor.
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